
 

TOWN OF ROCKINGHAM 

BELLOWS FALLS VILLAGE CORPORATION 

Merger Committee Regular Meeting 

 

Tuesday, August 25, 2015 

 

 

Present:  Thomas MacPhee, Nancy McAuliffe, Sanford Martin, Ann DiBernardo, Peter Golec, 

Susan Hammond, Colin James, Stefan Golec, Joshua Hearne 

 

Absent:  Evelyn Weeks 

 

Also Present:  Kristi Morris, Facilitator; Willis Stearns, II, Municipal Manager; Kerry Bennett, 

Recording Clerk; Andrew Smith; Catherine Bergmann, Marjorie Ladd, Deborah Wright, Hope 

Brissette, Wade Masure, James McAuliffe, Dennis Harty 

 

Press:  Joey Powers, FACT8; Joel Slutsky, The Shopper; Domenic Poli, Brattleboro Reformer 

 

Call to Order:  Meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Facilitator Kristi Morris.  Morris 

again reminded those assembled of the Rules of Procedure adopted by the Committee, 

specifically the 3 minute time limit on items not on the agenda and the 2 minute time limit on 

items on the agenda. 

 

Additions to the Agenda for Routine Administrative Matters and/or Pressing Matters that will 

require ratification at a future meeting:  None 

 

Approve Minutes of July 28, 2015:  Peter Golec made the motion to approve the minutes of July 

28, 2015 as printed.  Motion was seconded by Nancy McAuliffe.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

Public Comment on Items Not on the Agenda (3 minutes per person): 

 Andrew Smith noted that the document being worked on is a merger document but it is 

actually a draft town charter and sees the document as a predatory document by its nature.  

Smith further stated that the small handful of people wanting the merger have maneuvered 

the committee into taking on as its first order of business the draft of an overreaching and 

aggressive town charter.  Smith stated that this document is a scripted funeral for the Village 

of Bellows Falls.  Smith also noted that the Committee has given no consideration to fair 

compensation to Village taxpayers or their investment in Village assets.  Smith also states 

that he felt it was now too late for the Committee to credibly address these issues.  Smith 

noted that the Town of Rockingham has been operating under State Statute since the 18
th

 

century and merger advocates now seek a town charter to increase the size and power of 

town government and to grease the ways for a Town seizure of Village assets.  Smith stated 

that as for significant economic benefit, if there is a benefit it should have come to light at the 

onset and as a starting point and discussed by the Merger Committee.  Smith noted that Town 

voters historically pass proposed budgets and if town-wide services as noted in the draft 

charter are implemented the costs of a merged government can be expected to quickly exceed 

the present sum total.  Smith further stated that the present basic town and village structures 

are not broke and don’t need fixing. 



 

Merger Committee Meeting 

August 25, 2015 – Page 2 

 

 Catherine Bergmann noted that the public was not recognized for discussion on approval of 

the minutes of July 28, 2015 and she had one change.  Morris stated that the minutes had 

been approved and asked if the Committee was interested in re-opening discussion on the 

minutes.  The Board did agree to re-open discussion.  Bergmann stated that under Public 

Comment third bullet, Margery Ladd had asked if a vote for the charter meant a vote for 

merger and Morris indicated that it did but this was not reflected in the minutes.   

 

Deborah Wright stated that she was concerned with page 4 under the setting agenda for the 

August 25 meeting.  Wright noted that the minutes reflect that there was a consensus of the 

Committee to add 10.5 and 10.6 and it is her understanding that according to Open Meeting 

Law and Roberts Rules of Order a consensus cannot be made to add additional items without 

a motion and a vote to add items and a vote was not taken.  MacPhee stated that the agenda 

for this meeting was warned with these sections and doesn’t feel this is an issue.  Morris 

agreed that he believes also that this complies with the Open Meeting Law.   

 

Morris asked for the Committee’s vote to accept the minutes as amended.  The minutes were 

approved as amended. 

 

 Hope Brissette asked why the Committee has not discussed any of the financials, any of the 

numbers, who gets what, how you divi all the stuff up because she hasn’t heard and the 

Committee is already writing a charter and doesn’t see any of it in the charter.  Brissette also 

asked why Rockingham wants the Village’s assets so badly.  Brisette also asked if anyone on 

the Committee had done any research on the financials.  Morris stated that the financial part 

of it comes after the document is in a position where it is a working document.  Morris stated 

that the Committee felt that the document should be in place chapter by chapter and will get 

there eventually at the Board level.   

 

 Bergmann asked for a clarification that the Village Trustees would be expected to vote yes or 

no without knowing how it is going to impact the Village taxpayers.  MacPhee stated that he 

doesn’t believe that the document would go back to the individual Boards without all the I’s 

dotted and T’s crossed including financials.  Peter Golec stated that before this Committee 

votes on the document he wants to see the results of the manager’s survey and the financials.   

 

 Deborah Wright stated that she asked at the last meeting if everyone understood the Statute 

on which the merger is based.  Wright stated that under Title 24: Merger of Municipalities, 

§1483. Contents of plan – the first for words are “The plan of merger…”  Wright noted that 

at no time has this Board laid out a plan of merger.  Wright stated that a previous document 

had lots of numbers and this one has none and everyone is greatly concerned about the 

numbers.  Wright stated that the Committee has not laid anything out to let the public know 

what it will do next.  Morris again stated that the Committee has not completed its work on 

the document and there is a lot more work to come. 

 

 Hope Brissette stated she wanted to know that if when this is done and the Selectboard and 

Trustees say no or the people say no, will this die or is everyone going to go back to the work 

table and try to make it sound good and sell it again.   



 

Merger Committee Meeting 

August 25, 2015 – Page 3 

 

Agenda: 

1. Continue with Review of Draft Document – 2 hour time limit 

 a) Chapter Ten – Merger (24 V.S.A. Chapter 49) 

 10.2 D, E, F:  Morris read 10.2 D, E & F in their entirety.   Thomas MacPhee made 

the motion to accept 10.2 D, E & F as read.  Motion was seconded by Colin James.   

 

Martin asked if 10.2D first sentence should say special service area meetings instead 

of special meetings.  Stearns stated that any organization of the government can hold 

a special meeting.   

 

Hearne asked if under 10.2E there would be special funds designated for such special 

services as Rockingham Fire Department, Bellows Falls Fire Department and Saxtons 

River Fire Department or if these would be in one lumped fund.  Stearns stated that 

they would be separate.   

 

Andrew Smith stated that in the unfortunate circumstances that this whole thing 

moves forward, a provision in these sections for special meetings really indicates to 

him that on the important issue of special service areas there is a desire to minimize 

voter involvement and questions the real need for a provision for special meetings, 

which he believes can be warned on significantly less notice than regular meetings.  

Stearns used an example that a Saxtons River Special District decides 60 days before 

Town Meeting that they would like to add $80,000 to buy fire hose then they can 

choose to warn a special district meeting in which they want, as a group, to raise 

$80,000 by taxation and they can hold a meeting and choose to do that and then it is 

up to the Selectboard to set a tax rate for that special service district.  Another method 

would be for them to present a budget to the Selectboard to get their fund to have 

$80,000 in it for a purchase or to request to finance over time for that purchase.  This 

would give a special service area the mechanism to vote, not a town-wide choice but 

a district choice.  Smith stated that it was his feeling that everyone needs to plan 

ahead.   

 

Dennis Harty asked what the mechanism is for this. Could anyone in those 3 districts 

call a special meeting.  Stearns stated that it would be the same rules for special 

meetings – 5% of the voters by petition.  Morris stated that there are 2 methods – the 

Selectboard can call a special meeting or voters can petition the Selectboard with 5% 

of the voters which would then force the Selectboard to hold the meeting.  Wright 

noted that petitions with 5% of the voters has been presented to boards before and the 

board denies the petition.  MacPhee stated that he does not believe the Selectboard 

can reject a petition involving finances.  Morris stated that this will be researched and 

an answer presented at the next meeting. 

    

 10.3  Bellows Falls Police Special Service:  Morris read 10.3 in its entirety.  Colin 

James made the motion to accept 10.3 Bellows Falls Police Special Service as read.  

Motion was seconded by Nancy McAuliffe.   



 

Merger Committee Meeting 

August 25, 2015 – Page 4 

 

James asked if Saxtons River and Rockingham would be billed separately for any 

services.  Morris stated that Saxtons River and Rockingham would be billed for 

services by the Village unless this service were to go town-wide. Should that occur, 

the special service area would no longer exist.   

 

Peter Golec noted that this document only reflects the Bellows Falls Police Special 

Service and feels that language should be included for the services provided to rural 

Rockingham and Saxtons River from the Vermont State Police and Windham County 

Sheriff.  Stearns stated that there are no contracts currently in place and these service 

areas do not exist now.   

 

Hearne stated that this section should read Bellows Falls Police Special Service Area. 

 

MacPhee felt that paragraph B should be stricken.  Hearne agreed.  MacPhee also 

noted that the Legislature, in the past few years, have discussed mandating town-wide 

policing although this has not gone to the Legislature yet.   

 

Stearns stated that the name Bellows Falls Police Department should be retained even 

if it were to go town-wide.  Otherwise the Department would have to be dissolved 

and would have to re-apply to the State.  Stearns also noted that it may be a good time 

to discuss the results of the survey done at the Bellows Falls Annual Meeting.  Stefan 

Golec stated that he felt the survey results should be put on the website.   

 

DiBernardo noted that with the relocation of the State Police from Rockingham to 

Westminster this may result in a change to response times.  Hearne stated that the 

patrol areas will remain the same. 

 

Stefan Golec stated that it is his opinion that there is going to be a need for services 

town-wide that Bellows Falls taxpayers are paying for now.  Golec stated he agreed 

with MacPhee that there may possibly be a state mandate for town-wide policing in 

the future.  Golec stated that he felt paragraph B should remain. 

 

Stearns stated that 10.2C covers this and it seems redundant.  Morris stated that he 

also agrees that 10.2C makes 10.3B redundant.   Stearns stated that 10.3A should 

remain.   

 

Deborah Wright stated that the VLCT 1991 document recommends that policing be 

town wide.   

 

Morris called for a vote on the motion to accept 10.3.  Motion failed with 2 voting in 

favor of the motion, 7 opposed. 

 

Thomas MacPhee made the motion to approve 10.3A to read “Police protection in 

the former Bellows Falls Village area shall be considered a Bellows Falls Police 

Special Service Area for those residing therein” and to remove 10.3B.  Motion was 

seconded by Colin James. 



 

Merger Committee Meeting 

August 25, 2015 – Page 5 

 

Hearne stated that he still has a problem with 10.2C on how a vote would go and 

would like a more thorough clarification.   

 

Morris called for a vote on the motion.  Voice vote was unclear and Morris asked for 

a show of hands.  In favor 5; opposed 4 – motion was defeated. 

 

The Committee discussed further the issues of money, efficiencies, opinions, and 

votes.  Martin stated that it appeared the Committee was at an impasse on item 10.3 

and a clarification was necessary on 10.2C and how this will impact 10.3, 10.4, 10.5 

and 10.6 and the Committee agreed. 

 

 10.4  Bellows Falls Fire Special Service Area 

 10.5  Rural Rockingham Special Service Area (new section) 

 10.6  Saxtons River Special Service Area (new section) 

 

Set Agenda Items for September 22, 2015:  Thomas MacPhee made the motion to set the agenda 

for the next meeting as 10.2C clarification; 10.3, 10.4, 10.5, and 10.6.  Motion was seconded by 

Nancy McAuliffe. 

 

Dennis Harty suggested that the Committee look at the documents from the 6 or 7 other towns 

that have merged such as Hartford and Randolph.  Others that were suggested were Manchester, 

Dorsett and Bennington.  Harty stated that these documents may address some of the same 

issues.  Bergmann also suggested Northfield.   

 

Deborah Wright stated that she felt the efficiencies would be minimal unless the police and fire 

departments were made town-wide and this be a “full merge” document.  

 

Stefan Golec suggested the Committee look at other areas for efficiencies also in water, 

wastewater and highway and should consider subcontracting for winter plowing. 

 

Morris called for a vote on the motion to set the agenda for the next meeting to include a 

clarification of 10.2C and to include 10.3, 10.4, 10.5 and 10.6.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

Morris did state that he will be on vacation the week of the next regular meeting.  Thomas 

MacPhee made the motion that the Committee hold a Special Meeting immediately following the 

regular Joint Board Meeting on September 29, 2015 not to exceed the 2 hour time limit.  Motion 

was seconded by Ann DiBernardo.  Motion passed with 8 in favor and one abstention (Martin). 

 

Other Business:  None 

 

Adjourn:  Thomas MacPhee made the motion to adjourn the meeting at 7:30 p.m.  Motion was 

seconded by Peter Golec.  Motion passed unanimously. 

 

 

 Attest:   

             Kerry Bennett, Recording Clerk 


